S230213

### SUPREME COURT FILED

FEB 17 2016

## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

Deputy

COUNTY OF LOS ANGELES, *Plaintiff-Appellant*,

v.

CRC 8.25(b)

FINANCIAL CASUALTY & SURETY, INC., Defendant-Respondent.

After a Decision by the Court of Appeal, Second Appellate District, Division Four Case No. B257660 (LASC No. SJ3898)

#### **OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS**

OFFICE OF THE COUNTY COUNSEL
RUBEN BAEZA, JR., Assistant County Counsel
LINDSAY YOSHIYAMA, Deputy County Counsel
State Bar No. 240013
JOANNE NIELSEN, Principal Deputy County Counsel
State Bar No. 181698
648 Kenneth Hahn Hall of Administration
500 West Temple Street

#### **ISSUE FOR REVIEW**

Whether the authority granted to a jailer under Penal Code section 1269b, "to set the time and place for the appearance of the arrested person before the appropriate court and give notice thereof" makes the appearance in that court on that date "lawfully required" for purposes of forfeiting bail under Penal Code section 1305(a)(4).

#### INTRODUCTION

A criminal defendant was present in court, in custody, for arraignment when the court set a date for a pre-trial conference. Before the pre-trial, the defendant bailed out. The bail bond stated the defendant was ordered to appear at the time and date that the court had previously set for the pre-trial. When the defendant did not appear, the court forfeited bail.

Bail forfeiture is governed by Penal Code<sup>1</sup> §1305, which provides that bail is to be forfeited when a defendant fails to appear for arraignment, trial, judgment, execution of judgment following appeal, and "[a]ny other occasion prior to the pronouncement of judgment if the defendant's presence in court is lawfully required." The issuance of a bail bond is governed by §1269b, which provides that a jailor may accept bail and set

All further statutory references are to the Penal Code unless other specified.

the time and place for the defendant to appear – and if the defendant fails to appear, §1305 applies.

Section 1269b authorizes a jailor to set the time and place for a defendant to appear upon acceptance of bail and release from custody.

Section 1305 authorizes forfeiture of bail if a defendant fails to appear, without sufficient excuse, when his appearance is lawfully required.

Therefore, a defendant's presence is lawfully required at the time and place stated on the bail bond, and if the defendant fails to appear, without sufficient excuse, bail should be forfeited.

#### STANDARD OF REVIEW

"Ordinarily, appellate courts review an order [on] a motion to vacate the forfeiture of a bail bond under an abuse of discretion standard. When the appellate court is deciding only legal issues, however, such as jurisdictional questions and matters of statutory interpretation, the abuse of discretion standard does not apply. When the facts are undisputed and only legal issues are involved, appellate courts conduct an independent review."

(People v. International Fidelity Insurance Company (2012) 204

Cal.App.4<sup>th</sup> 588, 591 (internal citations omitted).)

The issue here is one of statutory interpretation; whether, pursuant to a bail bond issued under the authority of §1269b, a defendant's presence in court is "lawfully required" under §1305(a)(4). Thus, the matter requires an independent review.

#### COMBINED STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Criminal defendant Sandra Chavezgarcia ("Chavezgarcia") appeared in court, in custody, for arraignment on November 29, 2012. (Clerk's Transcript "CT" 82-83.) The court continued the matter to January 3, 2013, for a pre-trial conference. (CT 102.) Chavezgarcia was remanded to custody. (CT 83.)

On December 19, 2012, the surety, Financial Casualty & Surety, Inc. ("Financial"), acting through an agent, posted bond for Chavezgarcia's release. (CT 4.) Under the terms of the bail bond, Financial undertook that Chavezgarcia would appear in court on January 3, 2013, or it would be subject to forfeiture of the bond and entry of summary judgment. (CT 5.)

On January 3, 2013, Chavezgarcia failed to appear, without sufficient excuse, and the court forfeited bail. The court issued a bench warrant and noticed Financial and its agent of the forfeiture. (CT 83.)

The appearance period<sup>2</sup> – the time within which Financial could surrender Chavezgarcia or otherwise move to vacate the forfeiture – was extended twice, but ultimately expired without the forfeiture having been

-3-

HOA.1891501.1

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> "The 185 days after the date the clerk of the court mails a notice of forfeiture (180 days plus five days for mailing) to the appropriate parties is known as the 'appearance period.'" (*People v. American Contractors Indemnity Co.* (2004) 33 Cal.4<sup>th</sup> 653,658

set aside. (CT 83-85.) The court entered summary judgment on the forfeited bond and sent notice. (CT 22.)

Financial filed a motion to set aside the summary judgment on the grounds that Chavezgarcia had not been "lawfully required" to appear on January 3, 2013. (CT 32-68 and 86.) The County opposed the motion and argued that Chavezgarcia's appearance had been "lawfully required." The trial court, which did not discuss whether Section 1269b applied, granted the motion and set aside summary judgment. (Reporter's Transcript 4-5; CT 124)

The County appealed the ruling setting aside summary judgment on the bond. (CT 127.) The County contended, *inter alia*, that Chavezgarcia had been lawfully required to appear pursuant to Section 1269b. Following oral argument, the Court of Appeal filed an opinion affirming the lower court's order. The opinion held "that a notation on the bail bond form that the defendant was ordered to appear in court on a certain date does not mean the defendant was 'lawfully required' to appear for purposes of bail forfeiture under section 1305."

The County filed a Petition for Rehearing, which the Court of Appeal denied without comment. The County filed a Petition for Review, and on January 13, 2016, this Court granted review.

#### **ARGUMENT**

#### A DEFENDANT IS LAWFULLY REQUIRED TO APPEAR IN COURT ON THE DATE SHOWN ON THE BOND PURSUANT TO PENAL CODE SECTION 1269b

"The object of bail and its forfeiture is to insure the attendance of the accused and his obedience to the orders and judgment of the court."

(People v. Wilcox (1960) 53 Cal.2d. 651, 656-57; People v. Safety National Casualty Corp. (2010) 186 Cal.App.4<sup>th</sup> 959, 965 ["purpose of posting bail is to insure the defendant will make his appearances in court and obey the court's orders"].)

"[A] bail bond may be forfeited only if the provisions of section 1305 are satisfied." (*People v. Sacramento Bail Bonds* (1989) 210 Cal.App.3d 118, 120.) Section 1305 states in part:

A court shall in open court declare forfeited the undertaking of bail...if, without sufficient excuse, a defendant fails to appear for any of the following:

- (1) Arraignment.
- (2) Trial.
- (3) Judgment.
- (4) Any other occasion prior to the pronouncement of judgment if the defendant's presence in court is lawfully required.
- (5) To surrender himself or herself in execution of the judgment after appeal.

(§1305, subd.(a).) Section 1305 requires forfeiture upon the defendant's first unexcused non-appearance, if the defendant's appearance is lawfully required.

Penal Code §1269b addresses the following issues: "Acceptance of bail; notice of appearance of prisoner; schedule of bail; discharge of prisoner; disposition of bail; forfeiture." It provides in pertinent part:

(a) The officer in charge of a jail . . . an officer in charge of a sheriff's department or police department . . . an employee of a sheriff's department or police department . . . and the clerk of the superior court may approve and accept bail . . . to issue and sign an order for the release of the arrested person, and to set a time and place for the appearance of the arrested person before the appropriate court and give notice thereof.

. . . .

- (g) Upon posting bail, the defendant or arrested person shall be discharged from custody as to the offense on which the bail is posted.
- (h) If a defendant or arrested person so released fails to appear at the time and in the court so ordered upon his or her release from custody, Sections 1305 and 1306 apply.

(Penal Code §1269b, subds. (a), (g), (h).)

The question here is whether a bail bond (directing a defendant to appear) satisfies §1305's requirement that a defendant's appearance is lawfully required, thus making bail forfeiture appropriate if the defendant fails to appear without excuse. Section 1269b gives the jailor authority to set the time and place for a defendant's appearance. Section 1269b provides that §1305 applies if a defendant fails to appear as ordered by the

jailer. Therefore, a defendant's appearance in court – on the date set by the jailor and shown on the bail – is lawfully required under §1305.

# 1. THE PLAIN LANGUAGE AND LEGISLATIVE HISTORY OF THE STATUTE REQUIRE THE DEFENDANT TO APPEAR

"The fundamental purpose of statutory construction is to ascertain the intent of the lawmakers so as to effectuate the purpose of the law. In order to determine this intent, we begin by examining the language of the statute." (*People v. Ranger Insurance Co.* (1998) 61 Cal.App.4<sup>th</sup> 812, 809.) "The language must be construed in the context of the statute as a whole and the overall statutory scheme, and we give significance to every word, phrase, sentence, and part of an act in pursuance of the legislative purpose." (*People v. Indiana Lumbermens Mutual Ins. Co.* (2010) 190 Cal.App.4<sup>th</sup> 823, 826-27.) "It is axiomatic that in the interpretation of a statute where the language is clear, its plain meaning should be followed." (*County of Madera v. Ranger Insurance Company* (1991) 230 Cal.App. 3d 271, 275.)

Here, the language of §1269b is clear, and its meaning could not be more plain. The statute provides that the jailor may set the time and place for the defendant to appear, and that if the defendant does not appear "in the court so ordered," §§1305 and 1306 apply. If bail forfeiture is not appropriate when a defendant fails to appear on the date and at the time shown on his or her bond, 1269b(h) would be rendered meaningless.

Moreover, a historical review of the statute demonstrates the Legislature's original intent behind it: To empower others besides a judge to compel a defendant's appearance in court, without a specific court order to appear, when a defendant bails out. If a defendant fails to appear at the hearing set by the jailor, without sufficient excuse, bail forfeiture is appropriate.

In its original 1945 version, the statute read, "In a justice's court of Class A, the clerk of the court shall, in the absence of a judge of said court, have authority to accept bail for the appearance before said court....[¶] The authority to accept bail as in this section provided shall include authority to approve the same, to issue and sign an order for the release of the defendant, and to set a time and place for the appearance of the defendant before the appropriate division or judge of such court and give the defendant notice thereof." (Stats. 1945, ch. 363, §1.) From the time it was enacted, §1269b was intended to permit defendants to bail out of jail without having to first go before a judge, and to ensure their appearance at the next court hearing. While the statute has undergone a number of revisions, including giving jailers the same authority as court clerks, its purpose has not changed.

The following was among the provisions added in 1959: "If a defendant or arrested person so released fails to appear at the time and in the court so ordered upon his release from custody, the court...may forfeit

the cash bail or surety bond...and if the bail is a surety bond the surety company is obligated as provided by Section 1306 of the Penal Code, subject to the right of the court to set aside the forfeiture as provided by law." (Stats. 1959, ch. 1396, §1.) Thus, the Legislature intended clerks and jailers be given the authority to set the time and place for the defendant's appearance – without a court order – and the defendant would be "lawfully required" to appear at the time and place so set.

Section 978.5 also supports the conclusion that bail forfeiture is appropriate if a defendant fails to appear as ordered by the jailer. Section 978.5, governs when a court may issue a bench warrant for a defendant's failure to appear. It provides that if a defendant fails to appear at the specific time and place ordered by the jailer (by "a person authorized to accept bail"), that a bench warrant may be issued. The statute states in part:

A bench warrant of arrest may be issued whenever a defendant fails to appear in court as required by law including, but not limited to, the following situations:

If the defendant is released from custody on bail and is ordered by a judge or magistrate, or other person authorized to accept bail, to personally appear in court at a specific time and place.

(§978.5, subd. (a)(2).) A defendant's appearance is "required by law" for purposes of issuing a bench warrant if she fails to appear pursuant to an order by a person authorized to accept bail (e.g. the jailer). In almost every

case, the issuance of a bench warrant goes hand-in-hand with the order of forfeiture. It must follow that a defendant's appearance is "lawfully required" for purposes of forfeiting bail if she fails to appear pursuant to an order by the jailer. This is the only conclusion that gives effect to the plain language of, and the legislative history behind, §1269b.

# 2. WITH THE EXCEPTION OF THE OPINION BELOW, CASE LAW REQUIRES THE DEFENDANT TO APPEAR

With the exception of the Opinion, every case of which Petitioner is aware finds that the date on the bail bond – under the authority of §1269b – makes the defendant's appearance in court "lawfully required."

One case that specifically addresses §1269b is *People v. Ranger Insurance Co.* (2006) 145 Cal.App.4<sup>th</sup> 23 ("*Ranger*"). In *Ranger*, the defendant "was ordered by the jailor and notified by the bond to appear in court" on a certain date. (*Id.* at 25.) But before that given date, the police department sent a letter to the defendant advising her not to appear because a complaint had not yet been filed. The letter told her to appear on a new date. (*Id.* at 25-26.) Before that new date, the police department sent the defendant another letter advising her of another delay and telling her to appear on yet a different date. (*Id.* at 26.) The defendant appeared on the date in the second letter, but failed to appear as ordered at the subsequent hearing. The trial court forfeited bail and later entered summary judgment.

(*Ibid.*) The surety's motion to set aside the summary judgment was denied, and the surety appealed. (*Id.* at 26-27.)

The Ranger Court agreed with the surety's argument that the defendant's "failure to appear on the arraignment date set by the jailor deprived the court of jurisdiction to thereafter forfeit the bond because there were no court orders continuing the arraignment date." (Id. at 27-28.) The Ranger Court explained that the defendant "was ordered by the jailor to appear [], and thus was lawfully required to appear for arraignment on that date." (Id. at 30, citing §1269b, subds.(a) and (h).) The Ranger Court held that because a complaint was not filed within the 15 day period, the bond must be exonerated pursuant to §1305. Thus, the Ranger Court's analysis establishes that a defendant is lawfully required to appear in court on the date set by the jailor and shown on the bond.

People v. American Surety Insurance Co. (2009) 178 Cal.App.4<sup>th</sup>
1437 ("American Surety"), is similar to Ranger; the American Surety Court stated that it was "governed by People v. Ranger." (Id. at 1439.) In
American Surety, the defendant was ordered by the bail bond to appear on a certain date, but there is no record of anything occurring on that date. The district attorney purportedly sent a letter to the defendant advising him to appear on a later date, but there was no evidence the letter was sent. (Ibid.)
The defendant did not appear on the date stated in the DA's letter, and the

court forfeited bail. The surety's motion to vacate forfeiture was denied and the summary judgment was entered. (*Ibid.*)

The American Surety Court's analysis presumed the defendant was lawfully required to appear on the date set by the jailor. But because there was no court order continuing that date, the trial court lost jurisdiction over the bond. (Id. at 1440.) Just like in Ranger, the appellate court found that the authority granted to the jailor in §1269b (to set the time and place for the defendant's appearance) lawfully required the defendant to appear. However, a letter to the defendant from the police department (as in Ranger) or from the DA (as in American Surety) did not lawfully require the defendant to appear; such letters were not equivalent to the statutory authority granted to the jailor.

Cal.App.4th 1018 ("Fairmont"), also presumes that §1269b compels a defendant's appearance for bail forfeiture purposes. In Fairmont, the defendant did not appear on the date reflected on the bond. (Id. at 1021.) No complaint had been filed and there is no record of any hearing taking place on that date. Thereafter, a complaint was timely filed, and the defendant appeared for arraignment. (Ibid.) The defendant appeared for several subsequent hearings but failed to appear at sentencing, and the court forfeited bail. (Id. at 1021-1022.) The surety moved to set aside the forfeiture; it argued the court did not have jurisdiction to forfeit the bond at

HOA.1891501.1 -12-

sentencing because the court lost jurisdiction by not declaring a forfeiture on the date stated on the bond. (*Id.* at 1024.)

The Fairmont Court explicitly agreed with the surety's assertion that §1269b, subd.(a) gives jailers the authority to set the time and place of a defendant's initial appearance upon release from custody on bail, and that if the defendant fails to appear, the statutes governing bail forfeiture and entry of summary judgment apply. (Id. at 1024; see §§1305 and 1306.) But the Fairmont Court explained that §1305, subd.(a) provides that "the court shall not have jurisdiction to declare a forfeiture and the bail shall be released of all obligations under the bond if the case is dismissed or if no complaint is filed within 15 days from the date of arraignment." (Id. at 1025.) Like Ranger, Fairmont's holding is dependent upon the 15-day provision in §1305(a). The court explained that the 15-day provision was added to eliminate the need for the defendant to appear in court on the date specified in the bond if no charges had yet been filed. (*Ibid.*) The *Fairmont* Court stated:

As a practical matter, what the 15-day provision means is, if no criminal complaint has been filed by the date set by the jailer for the first court appearance/arraignment, bail can neither be exonerated nor forfeited on that date.

(*Ibid*.) It follows that had the complaint been filed by the date on the bond, the defendant's appearance would have been legally required. *Fairmont* 

clearly finds that jailors have the authority to order and notice a defendant's appearance, and that bail may be forfeited if the defendant fails to appear.

Even in cases that do not specifically address §1269b, there is a clear presumption that the defendant's appearance in court is required on the date shown on the bond. (*People v. Accredited Surety and Casualty Co.* (2012) 209 Cal.App.4<sup>th</sup> 617, 622 [surety guarantees that defendant will appear at a specified time and place, and generally "such time and place for the appearance is set and notice thereof given to the defendant when bail is accepted and the defendant is discharged from custody"]; *People v. Indiana Lumbermens Mutual Ins. Co., supra*, 190 Cal.App.4<sup>th</sup> at 825 [defendant appeared in court as ordered upon posting bail]; *People v. Ranger Insurance Co., supra*, 66 Cal.App.4<sup>th</sup> at 1551 [defendant appeared for arraignment on date reflected on the bond].) It seems abundantly clear that the bail bond makes the defendant's presence in court "lawfully required."

The only case that found a defendant's appearance was not required on the date shown on the bail bond is *People v. National Automobile*Insurance Company (1977) 77 Cal.App.3d Supp.7; however, the case is distinguishable based on the limited facts provided. In *National*Automobile, the bond stated the defendant was to appear on December 1, 1975, but the docket showed an appearance date of December 3, 1975. The was no court proceeding on December 1st, but on December 3rd, the defendant failed to appear and the court forfeited bail. The surety argued

-14-

that the court lost jurisdiction over the bond by not declaring a forfeiture on December 1st. The *National Automobile* Court held that bail could be forfeited only when a defendant fails to appear on a *date* ordered by the court. (*Id.* at 9.) The court had set a date of December 3rd, not December 1st, thus the forfeiture was proper.

In spite of this finding, *National Automobile* does not undermine the conclusion that a defendant is lawfully required to appear in court on the date shown on the bond – *National Automobile* does not address whether the defendant had a duty to appear pursuant to §1269b. (*Id.* at p. 9.) As the *Ranger* Court explained:

[National Automobile] do[es] not mention (let alone discuss) section 1269b, [thus it is] not inconsistent with our conclusion that [the defendant] was lawfully required to appear on [the date shown on the bond.]

(Ranger, supra, 145 Cal.App.4<sup>th</sup> at 27, fn 4, parenthesis in original.) "It is axiomatic that cases are not authority for propositions not considered." (People v. Avila (2012) 38 Cal.4th 491, 566, citing People v. Ault (2004) 33 Cal.4th 1250, 1268, fn. 10; see also People v. Financial Casualty & Surety, Inc. (2015) 239 Cal.App.4th 440, 453.) Section 1269b makes a defendant's appearance lawfully required.

The appellate court in this matter equated the "bail bond form with the date of the hearing filled in" with the DA's letter in *American Surety* and the police department's letter in *Ranger*. In doing this, the court misinterpreted both *Ranger* and *American Surety*, and disregarded all the cases that take for granted the authority of §1269b.

#### **CONCLUSION**

The rules of statutory construction require that courts honor the plain meaning of §1269b by finding that a defendant's presence in court is lawfully required under §1305(a)(4) on the date shown on the bond. All case law, but for the opinion below, has found this to be so. Thus, when a defendant fails to appear (without sufficient excuse) on the date shown on their bond, bail forfeiture is appropriate. The County respectfully asks this Court to reverse the opinion of the Court of Appeal.