IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

No. S230213

SUPREME COURT FILED

APR 1 9 2016

COUNTY OF LOS ANGELES, Plaintiff and Appellant,

v.

FINANCIAL CASUALTY & SURETY, INC., Defendant and Respondent.

After a Decision by the Frank A. McGuire Clerk
Court of Appeal
Second District, Division Four
No. B257660

Superior Court of California Los Angeles County No. SJ3898



ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

John M. Rorabaugh (SBN # 178366)
Law Office of John Rorabaugh
801 Parkcenter Dr., Ste. 205
Santa Ana, CA 92705
(714) 617-9600
fax: (714) 644-9986
baillaw@usa.net

For Defendant and Respondent

ISSUE PRESENTED

Whether the authority granted to a jailor under Penal Code section 1269b, "to set the time and place for the appearance of the arrested person before the appropriate court and give notice thereof" makes the appearance in that court on that date "lawfully required" for purposes of forfeiting bail under Penal Code section 1305(a) subdivision (4).

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS AND CASE

On November 29, 2012 the defendant was present in court in custody. (CT 2-3) The court continued the case to January 3, 2013 for a pre-trial conference. (CT 3) The transcript reflects that the defendant was not ordered to appear at the January 3, 2013 pre-trial conference. (CT 101-103) The docket contains a boilerplate entry ordering the defendant to appear on the next court date. (CT 3)

On or about December 19, 2012 Bail Now Bail Bonds posted bond number FCS200-1070698 as an agent of Financial Casualty & Surety, Inc. for the release of the defendant from custody. The bail bond reflected an appearance date of January 3, 2013. (CT 3)

On January 3, 2013 the defendant was not present in court for the pre-trial conference, but was represented by counsel. The Court ordered bail forfeited. (CT 13, CT 42, ln 23)

On January 3, 2013 the clerk of the court mailed a notice of forfeiture to the parties. (CT 14)

On July 25, 2013 the court granted an extension of time October 23, 2013. (CT 18)

On November 20, 2013 the court granted a further extension of time through December 27, 2013. (CT 21)

On January 8, 2014 a summary judgment was entered against the parties. Notice of entry was given January 9, 2014. (CT 22)

On February 20, 2014 the surety filed a motion to set aside summary judgment. (CT 30, 66)

On April 14, 2014 the County filed an opposition to the motion to set aside summary judgment. (CT 71)

On April 17, 2014 the Surety filed a supplemental request for judicial notice of the transcript dated November 29, 2012 which showed that the defendant had not been ordered to personally appear in court on January 3, 2013 for the pre-trial hearing. (CT 99)

On April 25, 2014 the court continued the motion to set aside summary judgment to May 16, 2014 based on a stipulation of the parties. (CT 111)

On May 13, 2014 the surety filed a reply brief in response to the opposition. (CT 116)

On May 16, 2014 the motion to set aside summary judgment was heard. The Honorable Judge Lia Martin properly granted the motion to set aside summary judgment. (CT 121)

On May 21, 2014 a notice of entry of order was mailed to the parties. (CT 123)

On July 9, 2014 the County filed a notice of appeal. (CT 127)

The Court of Appeal filed an opinion affirming the ruling of the trial court. The Court granted Appellant's Petition for Review on January 13, 2016.

INTRODUCTION

Penal Code section 1269b provides an important function by providing a defendant, when being released from custody, notice of a time and place to appear in court. Penal Code section 1269b does not separately require a defendant to appear under Penal Code section 1305(a) subdivision (4). Penal Code section 1269b

incorporates, but does not enlarge Penal Code section 1305(a)'s provisions relating to the requirement that the defendant be lawfully required to appear in court prior to forfeiting bail.

In the vast majority of cases the defendant's presence in court is lawfully required at the hearing set by the jailor. Generally speaking defendants are released on bail soon after their arrest and the first appearance is for arraignment. This appearance is lawfully required by Penal Code section 1305(a) subdivision (1).

If a defendant has previously failed to appear and a bench warrant has issued, his presence is lawfully required by the terms of the bench warrant and Penal Code section 978.5.

Nevertheless, the legislature has wisely not required the defendant to appear in court for purposes of forfeiting bail at those hearings excluded by, or not covered by Penal Code section 1305. Penal Code section 1269b subdivision (h) only requires the defendant to appear personally at those hearings covered by Penal Code section 1305 subdivision (a). "If a defendant or arrested person so released fails to appear at the time and in the court so ordered upon his or her release from custody, Sections 1305 and 1306 apply." (Penal Code Section 1269b subdivision (h)). Therefore, Penal Code section 1269b does not require a defendant's

presence in court when the hearing set by the jailer is excluded by Penal Code section 1305, or when that date either conflicts with or is superseded by a court order.

Prior versions of Penal Code section 1269b specified that the court should forfeit bail if the defendant failed to appear on the date set by the jailor. The legislature has since amended the statute to only require the forfeiture of bail when required by Penal Code section 1305.

Case law has recognized at least two circumstances where a defendant's presence is not lawfully required at the date set by the jailer on the bond. Penal Code section 1305(a) specifies that the court does not have jurisdiction to forfeit a bond where a complaint has not been filed on or before that appearance date. The defendant's presence in court on the day set by the jail also is not required if it either conflicts with or is superseded by an order of the court.

Finding that the defendant's presence in court on the day set by the jailer is always lawfully required by the provisions of Penal Code section 1305(a) subdivision (4) would result in absurd forfeitures where that date is in conflict with the terms of Penal Code section 1305 or a court order. The plain language of Penal Code section 1269b subdivision (h) clarifies that Penal Code section 1269b is limited by Penal Code section 1305 and does not itself provide a separate basis to lawfully require a defendant's presence in court.

This interpretation of the provisions of Penal Code section 1269b also allows the legislature to modify the requirements for a defendant to be lawfully required appear in court by amending the provisions of Penal Code section 1305 without having to separately modify the language in Penal Code section 1269b.

ARGUMENT

a. The Defendant's Presence In Court Is Not Lawfully Required For Purposes Of Forfeiting Bail Where No Complaint Has Been Filed

Penal Code section 1305(a) contains the following limitation on the trial court's authority to forfeit bail:

"However, the court shall not have jurisdiction to declare a forfeiture and the bail shall be released of all obligations under the bond if the case is dismissed or if no complaint is filed within 15 days from the date of arraignment"

The court in *People v. Ranger Ins. Co.* (2006) 145 Cal.App.4th
23 found that a trial court was without jurisdiction to forfeit bail
at a hearing set by the jailer pursuant to Penal Code section 1269b

because no complaint had been filed by that date. This conclusion was based on the 1987 amendment to Penal Code section 1305 that limited the court's jurisdiction to forfeit bail prior to the filing of a complaint. The *Ranger* court relied on the legislative history of this amendment which demonstrated that a defendant's presence was not required when no complaint had been filed.

According to the bill's author (Senator Robbins), "[w]hen no charges are filed there is no necessity to have the defendant appear in court. This bill would permit bail to be returned without appearance before the court, and save the court time." (Assembly Com. on Public Safety, Rep. on Sen. Bill No. 316, as introduced (1987-1988 Reg. Sess.) Aug. 18, 1987.)

(People v. Ranger Ins. Co. (2006) 145 Cal.App.4th 23, 29).

In County of Los Angeles v. Fairmont (2008) 164 Cal.App.4th 1018 the court held that the trial court could not forfeit bail at the date set by the jailor on the bond pursuant to Penal Code section 1269b, because Penal Code section 1305 subdivision (a) required a complaint to be filed prior to the forfeiture of bail.

"As a practical matter, what the 15day provision means is, if no criminal complaint has been filed by the date set by the jailer for the first court appearance/arraignment, bail can be neither exonerated nor forfeited on that date. It cannot be exonerated yet because the People are given 15 days by statute to file the complaint. (citation.) It cannot be forfeited because, if no complaint is filed within 15 days—as was the case in Ranger—and the court does not continue the case or otherwise order the defendant to return on a later date, the court has no jurisdiction to declare a forfeiture on the bond. (Ibid.)"

(County of Los Angeles v. Fairmont (2008) 164 Cal.App.4th 1018, 1025)

In People v. American Surety Ins. Co. (2009) 178 Cal.App.4th 1437 the court found that the trial court is without jurisdiction to declare a forfeiture of bail at the date set by the jailor when no complaint was filed prior to the appearance date. Neither does it have jurisdiction to forfeit bail at a continued hearing where there was no court order setting an arraignment date even though the prosecutor had mailed a letter to the defendant. (Id., at 1440).

As in County of Los Angeles v. Fairmont, Supra, 164 Cal.App.4th 1018 and People v. American Surety Ins. Co., Supra, 178 Cal.App.4th 1437, this appearance date was not at a hearing covered by Penal Code section 1305 subdivision (a). Penal Code section 1269b does not create a separate duty for a defendant to personally appear in court. Penal Code section 1269b subdivision

(h) merely refers back to Penal code section 1305 to determine when it is lawful to declare a forfeiture of bail.

Therefore, courts have consistently recognized that the provisions of Penal Code section 1269b are limited by the provisions of Penal Code section 1305. By including subsection (h) in Penal Code section 1269b, the legislature made it clear that Penal Code section 1269b is subject to the provisions of Penal Code section 1305, and the legislature is free to modify Penal Code section 1305 without the necessity of further amending Penal Code section 1269b.

b. Penal Code section 1269b Does Not Require the Defendant's Presence at Hearings That Are In Conflict With or Superseded By a Court Order

In People v. National Automobile and Casualty Insurance Company (1977) 77 Cal.App.3d Supp. 7 the court file reflected that the defendant was ordered to appear in court on December 3, 1975. Nevertheless, the appearance date set on the bond was December 1, 1975. While not specifically addressing the provisions of Penal Code section 1269b, the National Automobile court found that when in conflict with the date set on the bond, the court order controlled.

It is manifest that a court order establishes the date upon which a defendant is to be arraigned, tried or adjudged. Under the rule of ejusdem generis, general words following specific terms are limited in meaning to things analogous to the specific terms. (People v. Collins (1969) 273 Cal.App.2d 1, 4, 77 Cal.Rptr. 741.) We hold, accordingly, there being no other authority on the subject of which we are aware, that the court did not lose jurisdiction by failing to declare a forfeiture of the bail bond when defendant failed to appear in court on the date agreed upon by defendant and the bonding company.

(Id., at p. 9)

Similarly, in *People v. American Contractors Indemnity Co.* (2001) 91 Cal.App.4th 799, the defendant was released on bail after conviction and prior to sentencing. Upon discovering that the defendant had been released on bail, the District Attorney filed a motion to revoke bail. This motion was scheduled nearly a month before the defendant was ordered to appear pursuant to the terms of the bond. The trial court revoked bail and ordered a forfeiture of bail at this hearing. Both the trial court and the court of appeals agreed that this order of forfeiture was void because the defendant had not been given notice to appear. However, had the defendant appeared in court for the motion to revoke bail the trial court

would not be bound by the date set by the jailor, but would have been free to set the next court hearing without reference to the date ordered pursuant to Penal Code section 1269b. Therefore, the court order would have superseded the date set by the jail because no hearing would have been scheduled for the date set pursuant to Penal Code section 1269b.

In addition, where a defendant is arrested on separate charges prior to the date set by the jail pursuant to Penal Code section 1269b, the trial court should not be subject to the control of the jailer who set the initial appearance date. The trial court should be free to set appearances for the defendant within its discretion without reference to the prior date set by the jailer.

It is important that trial courts have the ability to control the processes of the court. Penal Code section 1269b will generally require a defendant to appear on the date set by the jailor, but if that date is either in conflict with or superseded by a court order, the court order should prevail and the trial court should not be bound by a conflicting or superseding date set by the jailer.

c. The Legislative History Confirms That Penal Code section 1269b is Limited By the Provisions of Penal Code section 1305.

The People acknowledge that prior versions of Penal Code section 1269b specifically provided for the court to forfeit bail if the defendant failed to appear that the date set by the jailer. (OBM p. 8) This language was replaced Penal Code section 1269b subdivision (h) which provides that the provisions of Penal Code sections 1305 and 1306 control the court's actions when a defendant fails to appear on the date set by the jailer. The plain language of these amendments demonstrates that the legislature intended the power of the court to forfeit bail to be limited by Penal Code section 1305, and not controlled necessarily by the day set by the release of the defendant by the jailer under Penal Code section 1269b.

CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing, in the present case Penal Code section 1269b did not independently require the defendant's presence in court. And the Court of Appeals did no err in concluding that the defendant's presence was not lawfully required under the provisions of Penal Code section 1269b.

Therefore, this Court should affirm the ruling of the Court

of Appeals in this case.